## **AGREEMENT**

## between

UNITED STEEL, PAPER AND FORESTRY, RUBBER, MANUFACTURING, ENERGY, ALLIED INDUSTRIAL AND SERVICE WORKERS INTERNATIONAL UNION ("USW"), ON BEHALF OF USW, LOCAL 9427-1

(SCHOOL NURSES AND NURSE AIDES UNIT)

and

**CHELSEA SCHOOL COMMITTEE** 

CHELSEA, MASSACHUSETTS

**Duration of Agreement** 

July 1, 2022 - June 30, 2025

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

	Subject	Page
Article I	Union Recognition	1
Article II	Committee Rights	1
Article III	Compensation	2-6
	A. Basic Salary Schedules	2
	B. Method and Time of Wage/Insurance Payment	3
	C. Working Before and/or After the Regular Work Day or Year	4
	D. Placement on Salary Schedule	4
	E. Longevity	4
	F. Substituting for Health Manager G. Increments for Advanced Credit	5 5
		6
	H. Compensation for Advanced Degrees  I. Itemized Payroll	6
	1. Itclinized Layton	O
Article IV	Fringe Benefits	6-8
	A. Health and Life Insurance	6
	B. Worker's Compensation	7
	C. Pensions	7
	D. Professional Development	7
Article V	Working Conditions	8-10
	A. Length of School Year and School Day	8
	B. Transporting Children	8
	C. Files	8
	D. Drug Free Schools	9
	E. Interactions with Student/Indemnification	9
	F. Legal Assistance	10
	G. Transfers	10
Article VI	Employment Rights, Performance Evaluations, and Layoffs	10-13
	A. Employment Rights	10
	B. Performance Evaluations	11
	C. Layoff and Recall	12
	D. Resignation from Employment	13
Article VII	Leaves of Absence	13–18
	A. Sick Leave	13
	B. Personal and Religious Leave	14
	C. Funeral Leave	15
	D. Maternity/Parental/Adoptive Leave	16
	E. Family and Medical Leave Act	17
	F. Additional Paid Time for Nurse Aides	17
	G. Jury Duty	17
	H. Commencement	17
	I. Leaves under the Massachusetts Domestic Violence Act	18

Article VIII	Union Rights and Responsibilities	18
	A. Union Representation	18
	B. Deductions for Dues Check-Off/Agency Fee	18
Article IX	Grievance Procedure	18-19
	A. Definition	18
	B. Adjustments of Grievances	18
Article X	Arbitration	20-21
Article XI	Savings Clause	21
Article XII	Duration of Agreement	21-22
Appendix A	Form for Selection of Options for Parental Leave	23-24
Appendix B	Performance Evaluation Instrument	[TBD]

# ARTICLE I UNION RECOGNITION

The Chelsea School Committee recognizes the United Steel, Paper and Forestry, Rubber, Manufacturing, Energy, Allied Industrial and Service Workers International Union ("USW" or "union"), on Behalf of USW, Local 9427-1, as the exclusive bargaining representative for all school nurses, nurse leads, and nurse aides within the Chelsea School Department (collectively referred to herein as "employees"). The term "nurse" shall refer to both school nurses and nurse leads unless a separate provision is included for each.

# ARTICLE II COMMITTEE RIGHTS

- A. In recognition of the fact that the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts vest responsibility to the people of the City of Chelsea in the School Committee for the quality of education in and the efficient and economical operation of the Chelsea School System, it is herein agreed that except as specifically and directly modified by the express language in a specific provision of this agreement, the Committee retains all rights and powers that it has or may hereafter be granted by law.
- B. Except as expressly provided otherwise by the terms of this Agreement, the determination and setting of district wide policy are vested exclusively in the School Committee. The operation of the schools, the direction of the professional staff, and the implementation of policy are vested exclusively with the Superintendent of Schools.
- C. All notices, demands, grievances, or other documents to be served upon, or delivered to the School Committee will be delivered in a timely fashion to the Superintendent of Schools, Chelsea City Hall, Chelsea, MA.

# ARTICLE III COMPENSATION

## A. Basic Salary Schedules

1. Nurses shall be paid in accordance with the following schedule:

# **NURSES PAY SCALE**

July 1, 2022: Add Step 11 and 2% increase across the board ("AB")

July 1, 2023: 4% increase AB July 1, 2024: 3% increase AB

Bachelors			
FY2023	FY2024	FY2025	
2.00%	4.00%	3.00%	
53,541.31	55,682.96	57,353.45	
56,215.94	58,464.58	60,218.52	
58,998.74	61,358.69	63,199.45	
61,951.04	64,429.08	66,361.95	
65,021.63	67,622.50	69,651.18	
68,263.95	70,994.51	73,124.35	
71,708.43	74,576.77	76,814.07	
75,285.04	78,296.44	80,645.33	
79,013.56	82,174.10	84,639.32	
82,959.95	86,278.35	88,866.70	
87,107.95	90,592.27	93,310.04	

Masters			
FY2023	FY2023 FY2024 FY2025		
2.00%	4.00%	3.00%	
56,225.14	58,474.15	60,228.37	
59,051.64	61,413.71	63,256.12	
62,014.83	64,495.42	66,430.28	
65,135.47	67,740.89	69,773.12	
68,376.78	71,111.85	73,245.21	
71,798.51	74,670.45	76,910.56	
75,380.30	78,395.51	80,747.38	
79,137.42	82,302.92	84,772.01	
83,091.07	86,414.71	89,007.15	
87,206.61	90,694.87	93,415.72	
91,566.94	95,229.62	98,086.51	

# Article III, Salary Section A.1(b) Nurse Lead (See Chart)

July 1, 2022: Add Step 11 and 2% increase AB

July 1, 2023: 4% increase AB July 1, 2024: 3% increase AB

Bachelors					
FY2023	FY2023 FY2024 FY2025				
2.00%	4.00%	3.00%			
56,753.79	59,023.94	60,794.66			
59,588.90	61,972.46	63,831.63			
62,538.66	65,040.21	66,991.42			
65,668.10	68,294.82	70,343.66			
68,922.93	71,679.85	73,830.25			
72,359.79	75,254.18	77,511.81			
76,010.93	79,051.37	81,422.91			
79,802.14	82,994.23	85,484.06			

Masters			
FY2023	FY2023 FY2024 FY2025		
2.00%	4.00%	3.00%	
59,598.65	61,982.60	63,842.08	
62,594.73	65,098.52	67,051.48	
65,735.72	68,365.15	70,416.10	
69,043.59	71,805.33	73,959.49	
72,479.39	75,378.57	77,639.93	
76,106.42	79,150.68	81,525.20	
79,903.11	83,099.23	85,592.21	
83,885.67	87,241.10	89,858.33	

83,754.37	87,104.54	89,717.68
87,937.54	91,455.04	94,198.69
92,334.42	96,027.79	98,908.62

88,076.53	91,599.59	94,347.58
92,439.01	96,136.57	99,020.67
	100,943.4	
97,060.96	0	103,971.70

## Article III, Salary Section A.2 Nurses Aides (See chart)

July 1, 2022: Add 4% increase to Step 1, then restructure to provide 5.5% distance to reach each of Steps 2 and 3. Add a new Step 4 that is 5.5% above Step 3

July 1, 2023: Add Step 5 that is 6.25% above Step 4. Apply 3.75% increase AB

July 1, 2024: 3.25% increase AB

With Credentials			
FY2023 FY2024 FY202		FY2025	
4.00%	3.75%	3.25%	
19.76	20.5	21.17	
20.80	21.58	22.28	
22.10	22.93	23.68	
23.21	24.08	24.86	
	25.28	26.10	

Non-credentials			
FY2023 FY2024 FY2025		FY2025	
4.00%	3.75%	3.25%	
17.78	18.45	19.05	
18.76	19.46	20.09	
19.79	20.53	21.20	
20.88	21.66	22.36	
	23.01	23.76	

3. Advancement to the next higher step or rate shall be on the first day of each school year and shall be contingent on (1) an overall performance rating of at least "Needs Improvement" or equivalent and (2) on having worked a minimum of three quarters (3/4) of the prior school year. The performance ratings for nurses will be issued in accordance with the timelines set forth in the Educator Evaluation System. The performance ratings for nurse aides will be completed at least two (2) weeks prior to the school year's end. If a performance rating for a nurse aides results in a failure to move to the next higher step the nurse aide may file a grievance pursuant to Article IX, Grievance

## B. Method and Time of Wage/Insurance Payment

- 1. Nurses will be paid on a bi-weekly basis commencing with the second Friday of the school year. All nurses will be paid over 24 pay periods during the regular school year (or immediately following).
- 2. All nurse aides shall be paid on a weekly basis during the regular school year (or immediately following).
- 3. For purposes of payroll computation, the work week starts at 12:01 a.m., Monday, and runs through midnight Sunday.

- 4. Deductions for health insurance shall be on a monthly cycle for nurses and a 42 week cycle for nurse aides, with all deductions for insurance coverage during summer months taken during the school year.
- 5. All employees shall have their paychecks direct deposited.

## C. Working Before and/or After the Regular Work Day or Year

1. Nurses who are assigned to work before or after the regular work day or regular work year, excluding the time noted in Article V, Section A.1 will be compensated at the rate of \$35.00 per hour.

Nurses who are selected and approved by the Superintendent or designee to make formal presentations at workshops or in-service programs offered by the Chelsea School Department after the regular work day or regular work year shall be paid at the hourly rate set forth above plus an additional \$10.00 for each hour of presentation.

2. Nurse aides assigned to work before or after the regular work day or regular work year will be compensated at the same hourly rate which they receive during the regular work day/year.

## D. Placement on the Salary Schedule

The Superintendent of Schools has the discretion to fix the initial salary rate of each employee upon entering employment, giving consideration to previous experience and special skills, provided that such salary rate shall not be less than the minimum established in this Contract. Once placed on the salary schedule at the time of hire, employees will not be granted additional steps or lane changes unless based on service within the school department or applicable educational requirements.

# E. Longevity

Longevity increment shall be granted for the completion of full school years of service as an employee of the Chelsea Public Schools based upon the following schedule, provided that past service as an employee of the City of Chelsea with assignment to the school department shall count toward such service.

#### **Nurse Aides**

- Nurse Aides who have completed ten (10) full school years of service but less than fifteen (15) years \$1.000.00 for July 1, 2022; \$1,100 for July 1, 2023; \$1,200 for July 1, 2024;
- Nurse Aides who have completed fifteen (15) full school years of service but less than twenty (20) years - \$1,200.00 for July 1, 2022; \$1,300 for July 1, 2023; \$1400 for July 1, 2024;

- Nurse Aides who have completed twenty (20) full school years of service but less than twenty-five (25) years - \$1,400 for July 1, 2022; \$1,500 for July 1, 2023; \$1,600 for July 1, 2024
- Nurse Aides who have completed twenty-five (25) full school years of service but less than thirty (30) years - \$1,900 for July 1, 2022; \$2,000 for July 1, 2023; \$2,100 for July 1, 2024
- Nurse Aides who have completed thirty (30) full school years of service \$2,200 for July 1, 2022; \$2,300 for July 1, 2023; \$2,400 for July 1, 2024.

#### Nurses

- Nurses who have completed ten (10) years of service but less than fifteen (15) full school years \$1325 for July 1, 2022; \$1425 for July 1, 2023; \$1525 for July 1, 2024;
- Nurses who have completed fifteen (15) years of service but less than twenty (20) full school years \$1525 for July 1, 2022; \$1625 for July 1, 2023; \$1725 for July 1, 2024:
- Nurses who have completed twenty (20) years of service but less than twenty-five (25) full school years - \$1725 for July 1, 2022; \$1825 for July 1, 2023; \$1925 for July 1, 2024
- Nurses who have completed twenty-five (25) years of service but less than thirty (30) full school years - \$2225 for July 1, 2022; \$2325 for July 2, 2023; \$2425 for July 1, 2024
- Nurses who have completed thirty (30) full school years of service \$2525 for July 1, 2022; \$2625 for July 1, 2023; \$2725 for July 1, 2024

Payment for nurse aides will be made in a lump sum with the last pay period in June of each school year (i.e., beginning with June of the eleventh (11th) full school year).

Payment for nurses will be added to their regular paychecks each year, beginning in September of the eleventh (11th) full school year.

#### F. Substituting for Health Manager

If the Health Manager or Superintendent assigns a nurse to substitute for the Health Manager for one full day or more, the nurse will be compensated \$20 for each full day of the assignment (in addition to the nurse's regular compensation.)

## G. Increments for Advanced Credit

Increments for advanced credit shall be paid in the succeeding month following submission of evidence that the degree has been received.

## H. Compensation for Advanced Degrees

The salary scales pertaining to the Master's Degree column shall only apply to those individuals who have completed all requirements for their degrees from colleges and universities accredited by the New England Association of Colleges and Secondary Schools or the five accrediting institutions. The Superintendent will review academic descriptions for advanced degree programs that are not accredited by the New England Association of Colleges and Secondary Schools or the other five accrediting institutions, and will have the final approval for salary advancement.

## I. Itemized Payroll

All pay stubs shall include a clear statement of all monies earned and all monies deducted. In the event a Nurse or Aide must remit funds due to a payroll error, whether due to an overpayment of wages or a failure to withhold authorized deductions, the human resources and/or payroll office shall meet with the Nurse or Nurse Aide to establish a plan for repayment of such funds during the same fiscal year. A written copy of such a plan will be given to the Nurse or Nurse Aide.

## ARTICLE IV FRINGE BENEFITS

#### A. Health and Life Insurance

- 1. Health care benefits are subject to the provisions and procedures of M.G.L. Section 19 and are governed by agreements reached between the City of Chelsea and the Chelsea Public Group.
- 2. The School Department will deduct the share from payroll checks for participating members on receipt of proper authorization.
- 3. On the date of retirement, coverage under the City's health and life insurance plans may be continued through local group.
- 4. It is agreed that should any changes occur in the statutes or city ordinances affecting health and welfare plans or should any changes be mandated by law, this agreement will be immediately reopened for negotiations on this subject.
- 5. Employees are eligible to participate in the following programs offered under policies of the City of Chelsea, with the understanding that the City may discontinue or change such programs at any time. Information about City policies/programs can be obtained from the School Personnel Office or the City Human Resources Department.
  - a. Incentive payment for opting out of the City's health insurance plan.
  - b. Internal Revenue Code Section 125 Cafeteria benefits plan.

## **B.** Worker's Compensation

1. Employees who incur job-related illness or injury shall promptly file a written report on a form prescribed and provided by the school department of such illness or injury with their supervisor. An employee who is injured in the course of employment and is sent home or to a medical facility shall receive pay for the balance of the day of the injury. Time lost during statutory waiting periods (5 days) in which no Worker's Compensation weekly disability benefits are permissible may be paid by applying accrued sick leave.

Employees who receive Worker's Compensation retroactive to day one shall have twothirds of sick-time returned to their sick leave accrual for each sick day used in the initial waiting period, provided that the employee reimburses the School Department for the sick leave pay the employee received from WC for these days.

Employees who receive Worker's Compensation retroactive to day six shall have twothirds of sick-time returned to their sick leave accrual for any sick-day used for the initial waiting period after day five, provided that the employee reimburses the School Department for the sick leave pay the employee received from WC for these days.

2. Time lost after statutory waiting periods have been satisfied shall be paid for as provided under the Massachusetts Worker's Compensation laws (currently 60%). Employees may elect to use partial accrued sick leave days (40%) to supplement Worker's Compensation weekly disability benefits to the extent total compensation received does not exceed their regular pay.

## C. Pensions

The parties acknowledge that nurses must participate in the Massachusetts Teacher Retirement System. The parties further acknowledge that nurse aides are covered by the Municipal Employees Pension Plan. Employees may participate in a retirement savings option that allows them to take advantage of Section 403B of the Internal Revenue Code.

## D. Professional Development

The Chelsea School Department shall provide one-half (1/2) payment for college courses taken by employees for professional improvement. A maximum of three (3) courses per year will be allowed for an employee. Courses for which reimbursement is sought shall be subject to prior approval by the Superintendent. Only courses which are deemed to be job-related by the Superintendent shall be approved for reimbursement. This section is subject to any other conditions promulgated by the Chelsea School Committee. Upon completion of the program for which the advance approval was received, the employee shall submit documentation in the form of a grade card, certificate, transcript or other proof that the course or seminar was successfully completed along with the employee's proof of payment for such course. Failure to produce this documentation may result in

denial of reimbursement. The amount available for payments under this paragraph shall not exceed \$4,500 per year.

# ARTICLE V WORKING CONDITIONS

## A. Length of School Year and School Day

- 1. The length of the school year for all full-time nurses shall be 185 days, to include 183 school calendar days, with 2 additional days to be determined by the Superintendent or designee. The regular workday will be a 7-hour day, which includes a paid 25 minute duty free lunch. Nurses are expected to be at their posts minimally 15 minutes prior to/after the arrival/departure of students, with the understanding that as professionals, nurses must often devote time beyond the regular work day in order to fulfill their responsibilities without compensation other than the basic annual salary set forth in Article III.1. These responsibilities include but are not limited to attending two after school meetings each month. Each meeting will be scheduled for one hour and will consist of staff meetings, department meetings, personal learning communities, and/or conducting mandatory staff trainings on topics such as universal precautions, etc.
- 2. The length of the school year for all nurse aides shall be 185 days. The regular work day for full-time nurse aides shall be 6 1/2 hours, which includes a paid 25 minute duty-free lunch.
- 3. Nurses who are specifically required to attend special education and Section 504 team meetings, professional development or staff meetings that extend beyond the regular workday (other than the two per month set forth in Section A.1 above) will receive compensation at the hourly rate set forth in Article III, Section C. Nurses and nurse ides who attend professional development programs or meetings that are not required may or may not be compensated. Announcements for professional development opportunities will indicate if nurses or nurse aides will receive compensation.

## B. Transporting Children

Employees shall not be required to transport children in their personal automobiles.

#### C. Files

- 1. Employee files shall be maintained under the following circumstances:
  - a. No material derogatory to an employee's conduct, service, character, or personality shall be placed in the files by an administrator unless the employee is sent a dated copy at the same time.
  - b. The employee shall have the right to submit a response to the statement. The employee's answer shall also be included in the file.

- c. Upon request, an employee shall be given access to his/her file without delay.
- d. Upon receipt of a written request, the employee shall be furnished a reproduction of any material in his/her file in a time period consistent with state laws.
- 2. Derogatory statements or reports kept by administrators at the school level are subject to the same provisions as official personnel files.
- 3. Official grievances filed by any employee under the Grievance Procedure as outlined in this Agreement shall not be placed in the personnel file of the employee; nor, shall such grievance become a part of any other file or record which is utilized in the promotion process; nor, shall it be used in any recommendations for job placement.
- 4. An employee shall have the right to submit any pertinent employment related material for inclusion in the employee's own personnel file. Upon written request the employee shall have the right to review and to reproduce any material contained in the school department personnel file. With the employee's approval, the employee's designated Union representative shall have the right to review the file.

# D. Drug Free Schools

As a condition of employment with the Chelsea Public Schools, all employees are required to sign the Employee Substance Abuse Policy. The Safe and Drug Free Schools and Communities Act requires this policy which mandates that the Chelsea Public Schools inform all employees that the use of drugs and/or alcohol in connection with activities on the premises of the Chelsea Public Schools is prohibited. This policy will be posted and maintained on the Chelsea Public School's website.

## E. Interactions with Students/Indemnification.

The parties recognize that corporal punishment of pupils is prohibited. The parties further recognize that school personnel may use physical restraint only when needed to protect a student and/or a member of the school community from assault or imminent, serious, physical harm.

- Employees shall be required to report, in writing, all cases of physical assault suffered by employees in connection with their employment to the Superintendent of Schools.
- 2. If an employee is injured or an employee's property is damaged by the willful misconduct of a student, the employee may request assistance and advice from legal counsel of the School Department concerning the employee's rights under the law.
- 3. The Employer shall indemnify employees against claims that may be brought against the employee in accordance with the provisions established by the Massachusetts Tort Claims Act.

4. Any nurse subpoenaed as a witness in a substance abuse or child abuse case or other action because of or arising out of the employment relationship under this section shall not suffer loss of pay or deduction from annual or accumulated sick leave.

## F. Legal Assistance

- 1. If a Nurse or Aide is injured or their property is damaged by the willful misconduct of a student, the Nurse or Aide may request assistance and advice from legal counsel for the School Department concerning the Nurse or Aide's legal rights.
- 2. Any Nurse or Aide subpoenaed as a witness in a substance abuse or child abuse case or other action because of or arising out of the employment relationship may request legal assistance and advice through the School Department or the City Solicitor's office. A Nurse or Aide required to appear in court under this section shall not suffer loss of pay or deduction from annual or accumulated sick leave.

## G. Transfers

- 1. In filling vacancies occurring at the end of the school year for the subsequent year or in filling new positions, due consideration will be given to the request of Nurses or Aides within the System for transfer to such open positions. It is recognized that the decision of whether or not such transfer will be made must rest with the Administrative Health Manager, Superintendent, or the Superintendent's Designee.
- 2. Notice of vacancies will be publicized for at least two weeks. Nurses or Aides seeking transfer to the vacant position may apply at any time during the two-week period.
- 3. An Administrative Health Manager shall not hinder a Nurse/Aide right to apply for a transfer out of his/her school.

# ARTICLE VI EMPLOYMENT RIGHTS, PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS AND LAYOFFS

## A. Employment Rights

1. Nurses. The parties acknowledge that the employment rights of nurses are set forth in Mass. Gen. Laws c. 71, sections 41 and 42.

#### 2. Nurse Aides.

<u>Initial Probationary Period</u>. Nurse aides will serve an initial probationary period of sixty (60) work days during which they may be dismissed with or without good cause and no such actions shall be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedures. The probationary period may be extended once for a period of up to forty-five (45) additional work days by the Superintendent or designee, upon notice to the nurse aide and the

union. Subsequently, during periods of any annual appointment, the nurse aide may be dismissed only for good cause or layoff.

Annual Appointment. Nurse aides are subject to annual appointment for the first three (3) consecutive full school years of their employment, provided that past service as an employee of the Chelsea School Committee with assignment to the school department shall count toward such school years of employment for the purposes of this section. Notice will be provided in writing by the last day of school whenever the nurse aide is not to be employed for the next school year. After completing three (3) consecutive full school years of employment, the nurse aide's appointment will continue, subject only to layoff pursuant to Article VI.C. or dismissal for good cause. As used herein, "good cause" shall mean any grounds put forth by the Superintendent or designee which are not arbitrary, irrational, unreasonable, in bad faith or not relevant to the sound operation of the school system.

#### **B.** Performance Evaluations

- 1. Nurses. Nurses shall be evaluated using the rubric for school nurses published by the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE). The timelines and protocols applicable to the evaluation of educators in the Chelsea Public Schools will be followed.
- 2. Nurse Aides. In the event either party wishes to propose a change to the evaluation tool for Nurse Aides, representatives of management appointed by the Superintendent of Schools and representatives appointed by Union shall meet to consider such changes to be presented to the parties for bargaining. All nurse aides will receive a formal written evaluation by the first Monday in June of each year. Evaluations will conclude with an overall rating of Outstanding, Satisfactory, Needs Improvement or Unacceptable.

In the event a nurse aide's formal evaluation indicates that overall performance is less than satisfactory or in the event the employer, following one or more verbal and written warnings to the nurse aide that otherwise formally notifies the nurse aide that his/her overall performance is less than satisfactory, the employer will have the option of providing the nurse aide with forty-five (45) work days to improve his/her performance to satisfactory levels. The employer will provide the nurse aide with a written improvement plan, which may include retraining. The employer will schedule a meeting with the nurse aide and his/her union representative to review the plan at its inception, a second meeting to review progress near the midpoint, and a final meeting near its conclusion. At the end of the forty-five (45) work-day period, the nurse aide will receive a formal written evaluation, and if the performance of the nurse aide has failed to improve her performance to the level of satisfactory overall, such evaluation will constitute good cause for dismissal. It is understood that backsliding of performance to less than satisfactory within one year following an improvement plan resulting in a satisfactory rating may also be considered good cause for dismissal.

It is understood that neither evaluation ratings nor placement on an improvement plan may be grieved beyond Level III of the grievance procedure unless relied upon as the basis for discharge. It is further understood that nothing in this article restricts the employer's authority to dismiss or otherwise discipline nurse aides for misconduct, failure to meet performance standards, or other reasons, so long as there is good cause for such discipline.

- C. Layoff and Recall. The employer retains the right to determine the number of nurse and nurse aide positions that are needed in the school department. In the event of a reduction in force, the following provisions will apply when determining which employee shall be laid off. Seniority for the purpose of the section is defined as the length of continuous, full-time service in the Chelsea Public Schools from the first day of the employee's appointment by the Superintendent, (1) provided that part time employees shall be given credit for service for the purpose of seniority on a pro rata basis (i.e., a .5 FTE employee will earn .5 years of seniority for each year of employment) and (2) provided that past service as an employee of the City of Chelsea with assignment to the school department shall count toward such service for the purposes of this section.
  - 1. Nurses. The following will apply to nurses with professional status.
    - a. A nurse with professional status will not be laid off if there is a nurse without professional status whose position the nurse with professional status is qualified to fill.
    - b. In the event a nurse with professional status is to be laid off, the following criteria will be applied in selecting which nurse will be subject to layoff: (1) the best interest of students and (2) indicators of job performance, including overall ratings resulting from comprehensive evaluations conducted pursuant to M.G.L. c 71, sec. 38, provided that the ratings of "Proficient" and "Exemplary" are to be considered equal for the purpose of this paragraph. If there is a tie using these criteria, the tie shall be broken by seniority, with the least senior nurse with professional status laid off first.
    - c. Nurses with professional status who are on layoff because of reduction in force shall be on a recall list for the first twenty-four (24) months of layoff and shall, if qualified, have preference over new applicants for any new position or vacant position of nurse for which they are qualified. In making a decision as to which of two or more qualified nurses on the recall list will be first recalled, the Superintendent will consider the criteria set forth in Article VI.C.1.a above. Nurses shall receive notice of recall via certified mail at their last address of record. The failure of a nurse to accept the assignment within 10 calendar days of the postmark of the notice thereof shall result in automatic removal of that nurse from the recall list and termination of all recall rights.
  - 2. Nurse Aides. The following will apply to nurse aides who have attained the status of completing three (3) consecutive full school years of employment as set forth in Article VI, Section A.2.

- a. In the event of a layoff of a nurse aide who has attained the status of completing three (3) consecutive full school years of employment as set forth in Article VI, Section A.2, the Superintendent shall consider professional training, experience and performance of each nurse aide as applied to the needs of the school district. If these factors are substantially equal, seniority shall control, i.e., the last person hired will be the first person laid off.
- b. Recall. Nurse aides who have attained the status of completing three (3) consecutive full school years of employment as set forth in Article VI, Section A.2 and who are on layoff because of reduction in force shall be on a recall list for the first twelve (12) months of layoff and shall, if qualified, have preference over new applicants for any new position or vacant position of nurse aide for which they are qualified. In making a decision as to which of two or more qualified nurse aides on the recall list will be first recalled, the Superintendent will consider the criteria set forth in Article VI.C.2.a above. Nurse aides shall receive notice of recall via certified mail at their last address of record. The failure of a nurse aide to accept the assignment within 10 calendar days of the postmark of the notice shall result in automatic removal of that nurse aide from the recall list and termination of all recall rights.
- 3. Leads. Nurse Leads will comprise a separate category for layoff. In the event of a layoff within the category of Nurse Lead, the provisions of Article VI, Section C.1 will be applied within the Nurse Lead category, provided that an employee laid off in the Nurse Lead category may bump into the Nurse category.
- D. Resignation from Employment. The Union acknowledges that employees have a very serious ethical responsibility with respect to their employment and expect that employees who wish to resign will provide a minimum of fourteen days' notice of that resignation unless otherwise the employee and Principal or Superintendent otherwise agree.

# ARTICLE VII LEAVES OF ABSENCE

#### A. Sick Leave

Sick leave shall be credited as follows:

- 1. Employees shall be credited with fifteen (15) days at the beginning of the school year. Newly hired employees will not be eligible to be paid for sick days until the completion of thirty (30) working days. Sick leave for employees whose service begins after the start of the school year or ends before the end of the school year shall be pro-rated at the rate of 1.5 sick days per month.
- 2. Employees hired on or before the 15th of the month shall receive credit for sick leave for that month. Employees hired after the 15th of the month shall begin sick leave accumulation the following month.

- 3. Employees may accrue a maximum of 200 sick days. Any accrued unused sick leave that had accumulated as an employee of the City of Chelsea will be transferred to their employment with the School Committee.
- 4. Sick leave pay is only for absence due to illness or injury and is not to be used as holiday or vacation time. With prior approval, employees may utilize sick leave time off for medical treatment. Employees are expected to schedule treatments outside of regular school hours whenever possible. Sick leave of up to 15 days per year may be used for the care of an ill family member who resides in the same household as the employee. Sick leave may also be used for a member of the immediate family not residing in the same household with a serious health condition as described in a U.S. Department of Labor "Certification of Health Care" form. If the sick leave exceeds two (2) consecutive days, the form must be completed and submitted within five (5) business days of the leave. Sick leave used under this paragraph cannot exceed 15 days. The rights granted under this section are not in derogation of the right to which employees are entitled under the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993.
- 5. An employee who is absent for six (6) or more consecutive work days may be required by the School Department to submit satisfactory proof of illness. Where an employee has been warned that his/her sick leave record has established a pattern of abuse and/or has been excessive, any subsequent unexcused absence shall be a basis for disciplinary action. The School Department may require a written certificate from a physician establishing incapacity, illness, or injury as a condition of payment in the event of suspected sick leave abuse.

## 6. Severance/Sick Leave Buy Back

Upon retirement or death, nurses may redeem unused accumulated sick leave in cash at a rate of \$75.00 per day:

Less than 25 years of service\* in the Chelsea Public Schools up to 120 days 25 or more years of service in the Chelsea Public Schools up to 130 days

\*Service while employed as a nurse by the City with assignment to the school department will be counted for the purpose of this buy back.

Upon retirement or death, nurse aides may redeem up to 100 days of their unused accumulated sick leave in cash at a rate of \$40.00 per day

If death occurs, such payment shall be made to the employee's estate.

# B. Personal and Religious Leave

1. Each nurse and nurse aide shall receive three (3) days annually for personal leave and three (3) days annually for religious leave. Three (3) of the total of six (6) days which may be taken for personal or religious purposes will not be deducted from accumulated

sick leave. If any of personal days are not taken, they will be added to the individual's sick leave accumulation in the following year. Religious days will not carry over, but will expire at the end of each year.

- 2. Religious leave may be used for the observance of religious holidays.
- 3. Personal leave may be used for personal emergency but not for personal convenience. 'Emergency' includes home, personal, or family exigencies that the employee is unable to schedule for non-school hours, including care of the immediate family or permanent members of the household and non-Chelsea school related court cases.
- 4. Employees who request personal leave are required to state the reason for the request with sufficient detail to ensure that it qualifies under Section B. 4 above. Assuming such qualification, the administrator will approve the request unless there are compelling reasons for denial. Such reasons may include district wide or school wide initiatives requiring the presence of nursing staff or absences of a large number of employees already approved.
- 5. Personal leave days may not be granted immediately preceding or immediately following a scheduled vacation or holiday period, provided that the superintendent at his/her sole discretion may grant a paid personal day if she deems warranted.
- 6. Employees must make timely request for such leave. In the case of exigencies known in advance, request for such leave should be made not less than two school days in advance.

#### C. Funeral Leave

Funeral days are consecutive school days immediately following or including day of death; however, if the death occurs on a day after the employee has reported for duty, such day shall not be counted as a funeral day. Weekends are not considered school days. Holidays, vacations, or suspended sessions shall be considered school days. If a death occurs when school is not in session, the employee may not be entitled to all days.

- 1. Employees will receive up to five (5) days off with pay in the case of death in the immediate family. The term immediate family means the employee's spouse, child, father, mother, sister, brother, grandparents, motherinlaw, fatherin law, or relative residing in the same household.
- 2. An employee may be granted one day's absence for the funeral of the employee's or spouse's aunt, uncle, niece, nephew, grandparent, brother-in-law or sister-in-law.
- 3. Days granted for funeral leave will not be deducted from an employee's annual and/or cumulative sick leave.

4. In exceptional circumstances, employees may apply to the Superintendent for further leave beyond that provided in this section. Approval of such leave is at the sole discretion of the superintendent.

## D. Maternity/Parental/Adoptive Leave

- Parental leaves will be granted to employees in accordance with the Massachusetts Parental Leave Act at MGL Chapter 149, Section 105D (MPLA) and the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA).
- 2. An employee who wishes to take leave under this section shall inform the Superintendent in writing on an approved form of the anticipated date of departure at least four (4) weeks in advance. (In the event of notification by an appropriate agency of an adoption date less than four (4) weeks in advance, the notice date will be adjusted accordingly.) At the time of the notification, the employee will select one of the following two (2) options, to the extent eligible:

Option A – Statutory Leave: Unpaid Massachusetts Parental Leave (MGL Chapter 149, Section 105D) or unpaid leave under the Family Medical Leave Act Leave. To the extent an employee has accrued paid sick time and is receiving a child through birth, surrogacy, adoption, or foster placement with intent to adopt, the employee may substitute up to twelve workweeks of paid leave for FMLA leave, (or in the case of MPLA eight (8) workweeks), to be deducted from their accumulated paid sick time, so long as taken consecutively within twenty-four workweeks of the child's arrival. The duration of Statutory Leave shall not exceed twelve (12) workweeks (or in the case of MPLA eight workweeks). Leave under this section is not based upon medical incapacity, and days from the sick leave bank are not available for use under this section. Extended school vacations, including the breaks in December, February, April and over the summer do not count as workweeks, whereas weeks merely shortened by holidays, snow days and the like do count as workweeks.

Option B – Extended Leave for Nurses with Professional Teacher Status and Nurse Aides who have completed three consecutive years of employment pursuant to Article VI, Section A.2: Unpaid extended leave through the end of the school year in which approved Statutory Leave concludes.

- 3. At the time the employee requests and is granted his/her leave, the anticipated date of return shall be specified. In the event an employee is unable to return on the specified date of return, the employee must submit a written request for additional leave to the Superintendent at least one week in advance. Absent the request for and the granting of additional authorized leave, the employee's failure to return on the specified date shall be deemed a voluntary resignation not subject to the grievance procedure.
- 4. An employee returning from a maternity/parental/adoptive leave of absence will be returned to his/her previous position or a substantially similar position and will retain the

seniority held at the time the leave became effective. Salary placement shall be at the next step of the salary schedule if the employee served one-half or more of the year in which the leave was granted.

## E. Family and Medical Leave Act

Eligible employees are entitled to leave under the Family and Medical Leave Act including Military Leave provisions. All leave taken for qualifying events under FMLA shall be applied to an individual's FMLA allotment. An employee is entitled to a maximum of twelve (12) work weeks of FMLA leave during any twelve (12) month period calculated on a "rolling" calendar basis. Employees should contact the Director of Personnel for information regarding eligibility and qualifying events under the FMLA.

#### F. Additional Paid Time for Nurse Aides

- 1. Nurse aides shall receive pay for all holidays which fall on Monday through Friday during the regular school year.
- 2. Nurse aides will receive pay for up to an additional fifteen (15) days each school year, to be attributed to days during the regular school year when schools are not in session due to scheduled breaks in the school calendar or early release days due to circumstances such as inclement weather. Nurse aides whose service begins or ends other than with the established school year shall receive a pro-rata share at the rate of 1.5 days per month.

# G. Jury Duty

Any employee who is called to jury duty shall remit to the School Department any fees received for performing jury duty when such payment is less than the employee's daily rate of pay. In such instances the School Department shall pay the difference up to the employee's regular daily pay. When the fees for jury duty are in excess of the employee's daily rate of pay, the employee may choose to retain such fees and receive no payment from the School Department for the period of jury service.

### H. Commencement

- 1. A Nurse or Aide may be granted leave of absence with pay for one (1) day to attend commencement exercises at which he will be awarded a degree or professional diploma in education. A regular employee may be granted leave of absence with pay for one (1) day to attend graduation exercises at which a member of his immediate family will be awarded a degree or diploma which represents the completion of at least two (2) years of post-high school study. Such absence will be deducted from the annual and/or cumulative sick leave.
- 2. For the purpose of this regulation, immediate family is defined as father, mother, spouse, son, daughter, sister and brother.

#### I. Leaves under the Massachusetts Domestic Violence Act

The School Committee and Union acknowledge that the Domestic Violence Act (DVA) provides up to fifteen days of unpaid leave in any twelve-month period for employees under the circumstances outlined by the statute. The parties agree to the following with respect to implementation: (1) the twelve-month period for unit members will be calculated on a rolling calendar basis, and (2) the Superintendent will allow the member to substitute his /her accrued paid sick leave for the unpaid leave provided by the statute.

## ARTICLE VIII UNION RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

## A. Union Representation

The Administration shall recognize the Union Steward as the official representative of the nurses and nurse aides. The Union shall keep the Administration advised of who is serving in the role of Steward.

## B. Deductions for Dues Check-Off /Agency Service Fee

- 1. The Union is authorized to have payroll deductions for Union dues. Authorization may be revocable as provided by law. The City Treasurer will transmit moneys deducted in total to the Union Treasurer no later than ten (10) days after such deduction is made. The Union shall notify the School Department of the amount of the Union dues annually, thirty days prior to the commencement of the school year.
- 2. The deductions of Union Dues will be made upon receipt of a form provided to the employee for the purpose of these deductions. Such form shall be approved for use by the Chelsea School Department and must be signed and dated by the employee.
- 3. The Union agrees to reimburse the School Committee for any costs the School Committee may incur in connection with its implementation of this Section.

# ARTICLE IX GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

#### A. Definition

For the purposes of this Agreement, a grievance shall be defined as a complaint between the Committee and Union and/or any employee involving only an alleged specific and direct violation of express language of a specific provision of this Agreement.

## **B.** Adjustments of Grievances

1. A grievance must be presented within ten (10) school days of the time of the occurrence of the alleged contract violation and must be processed in accordance with the steps, time limits, and condition as set forth below.

- 2. The employee shall present the grievance during his/her non-working hours to his/her supervisor and may be accompanied by another bargaining unit employee or by the Union Steward with the objective of resolving the matter informally.
- 3. If the grievance is not satisfactorily settled at this step, it may be reduced to writing by the employee within three (3) school weeks after receipt of the Supervisor's answer and be presented to the Superintendent of Schools. The Superintendent or his designee, the employee, the Union designee shall meet to discuss the grievance.

The Superintendent shall elect whether this discussion shall take place during working hours. The Superintendent, or his designated representative, shall give his written answer to the grievance within ten (10) school days following the conclusion of the meeting.

- 4. If the grievance is not satisfactorily settled at this step, it may be appealed in writing within five (5) school days after receipt of the written answer of the Superintendent to the Committee. The Committee or its designated representative, the employee, and an authorized Union representative shall meet to discuss the grievance as promptly as possible, normally within fourteen (14) days at a time designated by the Chairman of the School Committee. The School Committee will be informed in writing at least three (3) days prior to the meeting of the names and titles of the person or persons who are to represent the employee and the Union. The School Committee, or its designated representative, shall elect whether this discussion shall take place during working hours. The School Committee will give its written answer to the grievance within ten (10) school days following the conclusion of the meeting.
- 5. If no satisfactory settlement of the grievance is made, it may be appealed to arbitration by written notice of such intention to appeal within ten (10) school days after the receipt of the written answer under Step 4. This appeal to arbitration shall be in accordance with the procedure and conditions set forth in Article XIV.
- 6. A grievance not initiated within the time specified shall be deemed to be waived. Failure of the Union to appeal a decision within the time limit specified will mean that the grievance shall be considered settled on the basis of the decision last made and shall not be eligible for further appeal.
  - Failure of the School Committee to answer an appeal within the time limit specified shall mean that the appeal may be taken to the next step immediately. The above limitations may be waived by mutual agreement of the parties.
- 7. No reprisals of any kind will be taken by the School Committee or any member of the Administration against any party involved, any school representative, any member of the Union, or any participant in the grievance procedure by reason of such participation.

# ARTICLE X ARBITRATION

#### Section 1

In the event either party elects to submit a grievance to arbitration, the arbitrator shall be selected according to and shall be governed by the following procedure:

The arbitrator is to be mutually selected by the Committee and the Union. If the Committee and the Union cannot agree within seven (7) school days after written notice of intention to arbitrate has been received by either party, then the party demanding arbitration shall within five (5) school days, thereafter, upon written notice to the other, request the American Arbitration Association to provide a panel of arbitrators, said arbitrator then to be selected under the provisions of the Voluntary Labor Arbitration Rules.

#### Section 2

Each party shall bear the expense of its representatives, participants, witnesses, and for the preparation and representation of its own case. The fees or expenses of the arbitrator and the American Arbitration Association shall be shared equally by the parties provided that the obligation of the Committee to pay shall be limited to the obligation which the Committee can legally undertake in that connection. In no event shall any present or future member of the School Committee have any personal obligation for any payment under any provision of this Agreement.

#### Section 3

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, no dispute or controversy shall be a subject for arbitration unless it involves only an alleged specific and direct violation of express language provision of this Agreement: the arbitrator shall have no power to add to, subtract from, or modify any of the terms of this agreement. The parties are agreed that no restrictions are intended on the rights of the Committee except those specifically and directly set forth in express language in specific provisions of this Agreement. The arbitrator shall arrive at this decision solely upon the facts, evidence, and contentions as presented by the parties during the arbitration proceedings. In determining whether there is a specific and direct violation of express language of a specific provision of this Agreement, it is agreed that the only criterion to be applied is the plain meaning of express language in the Agreement.

If either party disputes the arbitrability of any grievance in any appropriate Court of Law or Equity, it is agreed that said Court shall determine the question of arbitrability <u>denovo</u> applying the principles set forth in Section 3 above without according any weight to any decision on arbitrability that may have been previously made by the arbitrator.

#### Section 4

Subject to the limitations in Section 3 and 4 above, the decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding upon the parties hereto and upon any employees affected thereby.

# ARTICLE XI SAVINGS CLAUSE

If any provision of this Agreement is or shall at any time be contrary to law, then such provision shall not be applicable or performed or enforced, except to the extent permitted by law and substitute action shall be subject to appropriate consultation and negotiation with the Union.

In the event that any provision of this Agreement is or shall be contrary to law, all other provisions of this Agreement shall continue in effect.

# ARTICLE XII DURATION OF AGREEMENT

This agreement shall be effective as of July 1, 2022 and shall go into full force and effect upon ratification by both parties, provided that the wage scales shall go into effect on the dates specified in Article III. The Agreement shall continue in effect through to and including June 30, 2025.

The parties agree further that they shall enter into negotiation for a successor agreement no later than May 31, 2025, for a successor agreement to take effect July 1, 2025.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties by their duly authorized representatives, hereto affix their signatures on the dates below.

then signatures on the dates below.	
UNITED STEELWORKERS, AFL-CIO CLC  David McCall President	FOR THE CHELSEA SCHOOL DEPARTMENT  Superintendent
John E. Shinn, International Secretary-Treasurer	School Committee Chairwoman
Emil Ramirez Vice President Administration	
Kevin Mapp , Vice President, Human Affairs  David Wasiura,	
Director, District 4  Mary S. Fusco	
Staff Representative  Julian Bo-LSCL  Juliann Boesch	
Unit President, LU 9427-01  Justine Hall	
Negotiating Committee	

Kim Sammons

**Negotiating Committee** 

Negotiating Committee

# Appendix A

# FORM FOR SELECTION OF OPTIONS FOR PARENTAL LEAVE

For use by of members of teacher bargaining unit under Article VII, Section D.

This form must be completed and submitted to Human Resources at least four weeks in advance of commencement of the leave. (Time frame for submission may be adjusted in the event of short-term notice of adoption or birth.)

Name:		Date:
Schoo	l:	Position:
Initial (	date of employment with the Che	Isea Public Schools:
Anticip	pated date of birth/adoption:	
Anticip	pated departure date:	
1.	LENGTH OF LEAVE	
statute weeks employ Human	s, employees seeking time off for b or twelve consecutive workweeks o ment, their hours of service, and p	Statutory Leave. Under state and federal irth or adoption are entitled to either eight of time off depending on their length of rior use of time off for certain purposes. gibility and entitlement for parental leave
Nurses consec extend	with Professional Teacher Status a cutive years of employment pursuar ed unpaid leave through the end of	B of the Contract. Under the Contract, and Aides who have completed three at to Article VI, Section A. 2 may elect to take the school year in which their Statutory eclared with the submission of this form.
Select	one of the following to indicate t	the amount of leave you are seeking:
	Statutory Leave (8 o upon eligibility)	r 12 consecutive workweeks, contingent
	(only for those with PTS	lowed by Extended Leave under Option E or Aides who have completed three of employment pursuant to Article VI,
	Other (less than the	applicable statutory leave)

## 2. USE OF ACCRUED PAID TIME

To the extent an Employee has accrued paid sick time and is receiving a child through birth, surrogacy, adoption, or foster placement with intent to adopt, the Employee may elect to use up to twelve workweeks of paid sick time while the employee is taking parental leave so long as the employee takes the parental leave within twenty-four workweeks of the child's birth or adoption. This sick time will be deducted from the employee's accumulated paid sick time.

Select one of the following:	
I wish to access my 8 weeks).	accrued paid time for the full 12 weeks (or
I wish to access on	ly days of my accrued paid time.
I decline to access any of my accrued paid time.	
3. NOTICE OF OBLIGATION TO ADHERE	TO DATES.
At the time the employee requests and is return shall be specified.	granted his/her leave, the anticipated date of
	the specified date shall be deemed a
Employee Signature	Date
Submit to Human Resources Office Keep a copy for your files	